Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Model

Researchers' Toolkit 2009



This toolkit is part of a series of resources based on evidence, drawn from educators and researchers, as to the strategies most effective in addressing physical activity in schools. The *Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Model* toolkit series provides an in-depth understanding of how Canadian schools can use a Comprehensive School Health approach to increase physical activity levels.

© 2009 Joint Consortium for School Health

This toolkit was developed for the Joint Consortium for School Health. While the views expressed herein are those of the authors, the authors wish to acknowledge the many people who provided assistance by critiquing early drafts, drawing attention to examples of good practice or sharing their personal knowledge. The authors hope that this document will encourage dialogue and action and result in improved outcomes for Canadian students.

The *Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Model* series includes four toolkits:

Best Practices Toolkit Decision Makers' Toolkit Researchers' Toolkit School Policy Makers' Toolkit

and four related fact sheets:

The Rationale for School as a Setting for Physical Activity The Benefits of Physical Activity Populations with Additional Barriers to Physical Activity The School Community's Role in Physical Activity

Copies can be obtained from www.jcsh-cces.ca.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction
What is Comprehensive School Health?5
Why Do We Need Comprehensive School Health?5
Pillars of Comprehensive School Health6
Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Approach7
Why Are We Concerned about Physical Activity?8
Particular Populations of Concern9
Aboriginal Youth9
Female Adolescents9
New Canadians9
What Difference Can Schools Make?10
Knowledge Gaps11
Implementing and Evaluating Physical Activity in Schools12
Summary12
References

INTRODUCTION

Increases in childhood overweight and obesity have become a major public health concern, with rates of obesity among Canadian children having more than doubled in past decades. Recent estimates indicate that about 30 percent of school-aged children in Canada are overweight or obese^{1, 2}, some of whom are among the most obese in the world³. While physical inactivity and unhealthy eating habits are acknowledged as the primary risk factors for the increasing rates of childhood overweight and obesity, research suggests that physical inactivity may play the more important role^{4,5}.

The benefits of physical activity in children and youth are not limited to just decreasing the risk for chronic conditions such as obesity, type II diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Additional benefits include⁶:

- increased academic achievement
- decreased behavioural problems
- increased ability to focus
- increased self-esteem and positive mental health
- increased social connection

Because virtually all children, regardless of age, ability, gender, culture or socio-economic background can be reached in school, schools are positioned to play a key role in increasing children's physical activity levels. This *Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Model Researchers' Toolkit* is part of a series that provides an in-depth understanding of how Canadian schools can use a Comprehensive School Health approach to increase physical activity levels.

Providing age and developmentally appropriate and culturally relevant physical education curricula, along with opportunities to be physically active both in and outside of the classroom is an ideal combination for preparing Canadian students for a physically active life.



WHAT IS COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL HEALTH?

Comprehensive School Health is an internationally recognized framework for supporting improvements in students' educational outcomes while addressing school health in a planned, integrated and holistic way. It is not just about what happens in the classroom. Rather, it encompasses the whole school environment with actions addressing four distinct but inter-related pillars that provide a strong foundation for Comprehensive School Health:

- social and physical environment
- teaching and learning
- healthy school policy
- partnerships and services

When actions in all four pillars are harmonized, students are supported to realize their full potential as learners – and as healthy, productive members of society.



Why Do We Need Comprehensive School Health?

Health and education are interdependent: healthy students are better learners, and better-educated individuals are healthier. Research has shown that Comprehensive School Health is an effective way to tap into that linkage, improving both health⁷ and educational outcomes⁸ and encouraging healthy behaviours that last a lifetime.

In the classroom, Comprehensive School Health facilitates improved academic achievement and can lead to fewer behavioural problems⁹. In the broader school environment, it helps students develop the skills they need to be physically and emotionally healthy for life.

When We Say	We Mean
Social and Physical Environment	 The social environment is: the quality of the relationships among and between staff and students in the school the emotional well-being of students influenced by relationships with families and the wider community
	 The physical environment includes: the buildings, grounds, play space and equipment in and surrounding the school basic amenities such as sanitation and air cleanliness
Teaching and Learning	 resources, activities and provincial/territorial curricula where students gain age-appropriate knowledge and experiences, helping to build the skills to improve their health and wellbeing
Healthy School Policy	 management practices, decision-making processes, rules, procedures and policies at all levels that promote health and wellbeing, and shape a respectful, welcoming and caring school environment
Partnerships and Services	 Partnerships are: the connections between the school and students' families supportive working relationships within schools (staff and students), between schools, and between schools and other community organizations and representative groups health, education and other sectors working together to advance school health
	 Services are: community and school-based services that support and promote student and staff health and wellbeing

PILLARS OF COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL HEALTH

COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL HEALTH:

- recognizes that healthy children learn better and achieve more
- understands that schools can directly influence children's health and behaviours
- promotes the health and wellbeing of students
- integrates health into all aspects of school and learning
- links health and education issues and systems
- involves families and the community at large

Effective, sustainable progress in Comprehensive School Health depends on a common vision, shared responsibilities and harmonized actions among educators, health professionals and others. The challenge is to coordinate these efforts so that partners pool resources and develop action plans together with, and in support of schools.

Physical Activity within a Comprehensive School Health Approach

In Comprehensive School Health's holistic approach, physical activity is broadly defined and includes not only physical education classes but also daily physical activity programs, intramural programs/clubs, interscholastic sports, walk-to-school programs, ride-yourbike-to-school programs, classroom walking programs and other programs or activities that get students and staff moving.

Physical activity: any body movement of skeletal muscles (i.e., muscles that attach to bones) that uses energy. Public Health Agency of Canada

A review of the literature¹⁰ over the last 25 years on initiatives promoting health in schools suggests that:

- physical activity initiatives in schools are most effective if they adopt a comprehensive approach (e.g., they develop skills, establish and maintain suitable physical environments and resources, uphold supportive policies to enable all students to participate);
- there is a strong direct correlation between being physically active at school and undertaking physical activity in adulthood;
- students gain more benefit from physical activity if they have opportunities to be active at regular times during the school day;
- students are more willing to participate in physical activity if they have the opportunity to collaborate with school staff in deciding the type of physical activity to be undertaken, which could include other activities not viewed as sport, like dance; and
- initiatives are more successful if they take into account student diversity including ethnicity, physical ability, gender and age.

"As a result of our walking program, we now regularly see parents, younger siblings and the family dog accompanying children walking to school."

Teacher, BC Healthy Schools Network case study

"I think the benefits are that being active makes you strong and healthy and you can have fun."

Student, BC Healthy Schools Network case study

WHY ARE WE CONCERNED ABOUT PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

In 1997 the World Health Organization stated: "regular physical activity provides people of all ages with substantial health gains that are physical, mental and social and contribute significantly to increased quality of life."

Despite that, recent research shows that a large percentage of Canadian youth between the ages of 12 and 17 are not active enough for optimal growth and development¹¹. Between 56 and 64 percent of boys and 39 to 56 percent of girls report being physically active for 60 minutes a day at least five days per week. For both boys and girls, levels of activity tend to decline as they reach higher grades¹². Moreover, data from the 2005/06 CANPLAY study that assessed children's total number of steps per day using pedometers shows that 96 percent of Canadian youth between the ages of 15 and 19 are not meeting Canadian guidelines on being healthy and developing lifelong physical activity habits¹³. Active Healthy Kids Canada's 2009 Report Card once again gave Canadian children and youth a failing "F grade" for physical activity levels¹⁴.

Canada's Physical Activity Guides for Children and Youth! recommends that children and youth (ages 6–14) be physically active for at least 90 minutes per day.

Less active children and youth should:

- gradually increase the amount of time they spend being physically active, starting with at least 30 minutes more per day (combining moderate and vigorous physical activity) until they achieve the recommended levels;
- gradually decrease the time they spend on TV, playing computer games and surfing the Internet by starting with at least 30 minutes.



Adapted from Healthy Settings for Young People¹²

PARTICULAR POPULATIONS OF CONCERN

Physical inactivity is an issue for all Canadian children. However there are a number of sub-populations where there are additional barriers and concerns.

ABORIGINAL YOUTH

Physical activity levels of Aboriginals have traditionally been very high. However, over the years these levels have decreased significantly¹⁵ and the majority of Aboriginal youth do not meet the recommended guidelines for physical activity¹⁶.

Aboriginal youth who are physically active and whose diet is nutritious are less likely to have suicidal thoughts¹⁷.

FEMALE ADOLESCENTS

Despite the many benefits associated with physical activity, the rate of participation by female youth remains low and decreases with age¹⁸. There is a dramatic drop off between grades 6 and 10. Females who are inactive as children and adolescents are less likely to be physically active as adults¹⁹.

If a female does not participate in sport by the time she is 10 years old, there is only a 10 percent chance she will be physically active when she is 25^{20} .

A British Columbia study found that once physical education classes become optional, only 10 percent of female high school students enrol²¹.

NEW CANADIANS

Youth who have recently immigrated to Canada are less likely to participate in organized sport compared with youth born in Canada – particularly if English is a secnd language²². Challenges related to participation identified by Canadian ESL students include language difficulties, unfamiliarity with activities and other commitments²³.

The 2001 census indicated that the percentage of foreign-born Canadians was at its highest (18 percent) for 70 years. Since 1996, one-third of new Canadians have been younger than 25.

WHAT DIFFERENCE CAN SCHOOLS MAKE?

Overall, the school setting appears to have a positive association with most youth health behaviours and outcomes. Students who engage in healthy living behaviours such as being active, eating well and refraining from risky behaviours have a greater likelihood of attaining high academic achievement, have better emotional health and report feeling more connected to school.

A literature review of relevant research in relation to physical activity in Canadian schools within the context of a Comprehensive School Health approach revealed the following key findings in terms of the benefits of physical activity for health, disease prevention and academic achievement:

- learning increased more rapidly in schools where larger proportions of classroom time were allocated to physical activity²⁴;
- academic performance does not decline with increased physical activity²⁵;
- there is a positive association between physical activity and academic performance^{26, 27,28};
- physical activity participation is positively related to youths' perceptions of health and that self-perceived health is a reliable and valid indicator of both physical and mental functioning^{29,30};
- physical activity programming is among the most common intervention for increasing overall self-esteem³¹; and
- youth who engage in physical activity demonstrate lower rates of anxiety and depression and that as levels of depression in youth decrease, physical activity levels increase32.

Although there are many recognized benefits of physical activity, current research indicates that physical activity levels of Canadian youth are below the recommended guidelines set forth in *Canada's Physical Activity Guide for Children and Youth*, and that these levels are even lower for new Canadians and Aboriginal adolescents. In addition, certain groups are more at-risk for a decline in physical activity participation over time. For example, adolescents, particularly females, are dropping out of physical activity at higher rates compared to other segments in the population.

KNOWLEDGE GAPS

After examining the literature on physical activity within a Comprehensive School Health model, numerous knowledge gaps were identified. An over-arching theme in all of the knowledge gaps is the scarcity of Canadian data. It is important that Canadian policy and decision makers have Canadian data on which to base their decisions, and are not left to infer from studies conducted in other countries. In terms of general research practices, there is an urgent need for:

- a detailed monitoring and evaluation procedure that schools can follow to determine short and long-term effects of physical activity initiatives within a Comprehensive School Health model;
- direction on whether future research should concentrate on single focus work or a more comprehensive approach; and
- a more feasible way to safely collect data from students attending schools so that the needs of all parties are carefully considered and detailed data is collected rather than estimated reports from one spokesperson in the school.

Specific topics that need to be explored through future research should determine:

- physical activity initiatives and student activity rates in schools located in Aboriginal communities;
- physical activity practices during school hours (including physical activity initiatives and physical education classes) of Canadians who live with disabilities;
- a widely accepted definition of a "successful" school-based physical activity program or initiative;
- the most effective means for monitoring and evaluating (both short- and long-term) school-based physical activity initiatives;
- the implications of school and/or board-level champions for physical activity;
- short- and long-term implications of mandated physical activity in lieu of, as well as in addition to, physical education classes; and
- what constitutes adequate training in physical activity and/or physical education, and who is best suited to offer this training.

Implementing and Evaluating Physical Activity in Schools

Program evaluation, documenting both process and outcome level indicators, provides an opportunity to assess the impact of a program and provides direction for modification and improvement. An evaluation also provides stakeholders, particularly funders, with information useful in decision making (i.e., was the money well spent?).

Evaluation guidelines for an active school developed in the UK suggest that the following should be evaluated³³:

- behaviour changes should be measured both in the short-term and the long-term
- the curriculum
- the school environment
- community links
- school policies
- active travel

When programs to improve and increase opportunities for physical activity in schools are implemented, an evaluation plan should also be implemented that determines what students are expected to gain. Specifically, pre-assessment, formative assessment, summative assessment and long-term evaluation should occur using methodologically sound research designs.

When initiatives and programs to promote physical activity within a Comprehensive School Health approach are evaluated, results are often shared without an understanding of how the evaluation was conducted. However, this information is important for others in order to improve current evaluation procedures. In particular, it is important to report methods utilized at all levels – school level, board level, provincial and territorial levels.

SUMMARY

A need for Canadian data related to physical activity in schools has been identified as a key gap in the current literature. It is through such research that we will be able to develop a better understanding of:

- the long-term impact of school-based programs on student behaviours;
- the best methods for implementing and evaluating school-based physical activity programs and initiatives within a Comprehensive School Health approach;
- what is occurring in schools in terms of physical activity, particularly among targeted populations such as Aboriginal communities;

- what policies are in place for children who live with disabilities in terms of physical activity in schools across Canada;
- what the implications are of school and/or board-level champions for physical activity;
- what the implications are for offering mandated physical activity in lieu of mandated physical education; and
- how to develop and implement specific interventions for those Canadians who are most at risk for physical inactivity.

REFERENCES

- ¹ Dietz, W. H. (2004). Overweight in childhood and adolescence. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *350*, 855-857.
- ² Tremblay, M. S., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Willms, J. D. (2002). Temporal trends in overweight and obesity in Canada, 1981-96. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders*, 26(4), 538-43.
- ³ Janssen, I., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Boyce, W. F., Vereecken, C., Mulvihill, C., Roberts, C., Curie, C., & Pickett, W. (2005). Comparison of overweight and obesity prevalence in school-aged youth from 34 countries and their relationships with physical activity and dietary patterns. *Obesity Reviews*, *6*, 123-132.
- ⁴ Moran, R. (1999). Evaluation and treatment of childhood obesity. *American Family Physician*, *59*, 861-868.
- ⁵ Nicklas, T. A., Webber, L. S., Srinivasan, S. R., & Berenson, G. S. (1993). Secular trends in dietary intakes and cardiovascular risk factors of 10-y-old children: The Bogalusa Heart Study (1973-1988). American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 57, 930-937.
- ⁶ Joint Consortium for School Health. (2009). *Physical activity within a Comprehensive School Health Model: the benefits.*
- Stewart-Brown, S. (2006). What is the evidence on school health promotion in improving health or preventing disease and, specifically, what is the effectiveness of the health promoting schools approach? Health Evidence Network report. Copenhagen. WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- ⁸ Murray, N.D., Low, B.J., Hollis, C., Cross, A., & Davis, S. (2007). Coordinated school health programs and academic achievement: a systematic review of the literature. *Journal of School Health*, *77*(9), 589-599.
- 9 Ibid.
- ¹⁰ International Union for Health Promotion and Education. (2009). *Promoting health in schools: from evidence to action.* Draft.
- ¹¹ Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute. (2006). *Opportunities for physical activity in Canadian schools: trends from 2001-2006*. Physical Activity and Sport Monitor.
- ¹² Boyce, W., (ed.) (2008). *Healthy settings for young people in Canada*. Public Health Agency of Canada.
- 13 Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute. (2007). Kids CAN PLAY Bulletin #1
- 14 Active Healthy Kids Report Card. (2009).
- ¹⁵ Hay, J., & Shepherd, R.J. (1998). Perceptions and patterns of physical activity: A comparison of Mohawk/Cayuga and Non-Native Adolescents. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 10, 629-635.
- ¹⁶ National Aboriginal Health Organization. (2006). *First Nations Regional Longitudinal Health Survey (RHS) 2002/3: results for adults, youth and children living in First Nation communities.*

- ¹⁷ National Aboriginal Health Organization. (2006). *First Nations Regional Longitudinal Health Survey (RHS) 2002/3: results for adults, youth and children living in First Nation communities.*
- Health behaviour in school-aged children. (2006). Retrieved January 12, 2009 from www.hbsc.org.
- ¹⁹ Shephard, R.J., & Trudeau, F. (2000). The legacy of physical education: influences on adult lifestyle. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *12*, 34-50.
- ²⁰ Gibbons, S.L., Wharf Higgins J., Gaul, C., & Van Gyn, G.H. (1999). Listening to female students in high school physical education. *Avante*, *5*(2), 1-20.
- ²¹ Canadian Association for the Advancement of Women and Sport and Physical Activity. (2004). On the move: increasing participation of girls and women in recreational sport and physical activity.
- ²² Cragg, S., Cameron, C., Craig, C., & Russell, S. (1999). *Canada's children and youth: a physical activity profile*. Canadian Fitness and Lifestyle Research Institute.
- ²³ Taylor, T., & Doherty, A. (2005). Adolescent sport, recreation and physical education: experiences of recent arrivals to Canada. *Sport, Education and Society, 10,* 211-238.
- ²⁴ Shephard, R.J. (1997). Curricular physical activity and academic performance. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *9*, 113126.
- Ahamed, Y., MacDonald, H., Reed, K., Naylor, P.J., Liu-Ambrose, T., & McKay, H. (2007). Schoolbased physical activity does not compromise children's academic performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise*, *39*, 371-376.
- ²⁶ Shephard, R.J. (1997). Curricular physical activity and academic performance. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, *9*, 113126.
- 27 Ahamed, Y., MacDonald, H., Reed, K., Naylor, P.J., Liu-Ambrose, T., & McKay, H. (2007). Schoolbased physical activity does not compromise children's academic performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise*, *39*, 371376.
- 28 Tremblay, M.S., Inman, J.W., & Willms, J.D. (2000). The relationship between physical activity, self-esteem, and academic achievement in 12-year-old children. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 12, 312-324.
- ²⁹ Piko, B. (2000). Health-related predictors of self-perceived health in a student population: the importance of physical activity. *Journal of Community Health*, *24*, 125-137.
- ³⁰ Shields, M., & Shooshtari, S. (2001). Determinants of self-perceived health. *Health Reports*, *13*, 35-52.
- ³¹ Calfas, C.J., & Taylor, W.C. (2000). *The health of Canada's children: a CICH profile.* 3rd edition.
- ³² Kirkcaldy, B.C., Shephard, R.J., & Siefen, R.G. (2002). The relationship between physical activity and self-image and problem behaviour among adolescents. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *37*, 544-550.
- Fox, K.R., Cooper, A., & McKenna, J. (2004). The school and promotion of children's healthenhancing physical activity: perspectives from the United Kingdom. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education, 23*, 338-358.

Joint Consortium for School Health 620 Superior Street, 2nd Floor PO Box 9161 Stn Prov Govt Victoria, BC V8W 9H3

> (250) 356-6057 (tel) (250) 387-1008 (fax) inquiry@jcsh-cces.ca (email) www.jcsh-cces.ca